95324-4

Supreme Court No
Court of Appeals No. 49232-6
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent
V.
JORDAN PITTMAN, Petitioner
PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Jordan Pittman, through his attorney, Marie Trombley, requests the relief designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BELOW

Mr. Pittman seeks review of the October 31, 2017, unpublished decision of Division Two of the Court of Appeals. A copy of the Court's opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it declined to impose a Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative, pursuant to RCW 9.94A.676?

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Nineteen-year-old Jordan Pittman lived with his mother and worked with his older brother installing siding on homes. 3/2/16 RP 79; 251. He was arrested on May 18, 2015, and Cowlitz County prosecutors charged him by second amended information with two counts of rape of a child first degree, one count of child molestation first degree, and one count of possessing depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct second degree. CP 35-37.

The state gave notice of intent to seek an exceptional sentence on three bases: abuse of a position of trust, multiple current offenses, and destructive and foreseeable impact on persons other than the victim. CP 2-3;36. The information also alleged that possession of depictions of minors was committed with sexual motivation. CP 36. Mr. Pittman remained in the community on bail without incident. 3/22/16 RP 68. The matter proceeded to a bench trial. CP 38.

The court found Mr. Pittman *not guilty* of one count rape of a child, but guilty of Count I, rape of a child and Count III, possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct second degree, with sexual motivation. CP 76. Count II was dismissed. The court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 72-77. The court found he abused a position of trust but did not find a destructive and foreseeable impact on others.

Sentencing

DOC completed a pre-sentence investigation report noting that Pittman did not drink alcohol or use drugs and had no previous experience with the criminal justice system. CP 4;44-45. Although Pittman admitted to his conduct and expressed remorse for it, the

DOC PSI concluded that he had not accepted responsibility for his criminal behavior. CP 45. However, the psychosexual evaluation indicated that Mr. Pittman had progressively accepted responsibility for the offenses. 6/16/16 RP 110-111.

The psychosexual evaluation indicated the main concern regarding amenability to treatment was whether Mr. Pittman would have a stable living situation and be able to cover the cost of treatment. 6/16/16 RP 107. At sentencing, counsel pointed out that Mr. Pittman's mother indicated he could live with her and she could provide him with employment. 6/16/16 RP 107.

Counsel stated that the quality of treatment available in the community was of much higher quality than the rudimentary sex offender treatment available in prison and could offer Pittman a future. 6/16/16 RP 108.

During his allocution, Mr. Pittman said, in part:

Your Honor, I would like to start off by saying I am extremely sorry for what I did. It was terrible in all ways.

I am taking full responsibility for my disgraceful actions that I have done. I am sorry for breaking the trust of [child] and my family, and for all the emotional and physical pain I have caused them. I would hope that the family will eventually be able to forgive me, and if they can't, I will understand.

I would like to rectify what I did by enrolling in a certified treatment program for sex offenders, and during the program I will follow all of the guidelines and I will successfully

complete the treatment so I can ensure that something of this nature will never happen again.

Again, I would like to say how truly sorry I am, and if given the chance I will succeed.

6/16/16 RP 112-113.

While acknowledging that he could succeed if the proper conditions were in place, the court declined to impose a SSOSA. 6/16/16 RP 116-117. The court reasoned:

Sex crimes, and the things –the thoughts and actions that lead up to those are deep-seated and deep-

rooted. For a person to make changes and to go from that takes a lifetime of work. A lifetime. It doesn't happen overnight; it doesn't happen in five years, it's a lifetime of work....

a meume or work

6/16/16 RP 116.

Relying on the notion of broken trust within the family, the family's objection to a SSOSA, and the court's visualizations of potential impact on the child, the court concluded:

And I think that here, notwithstanding Mr. Pittman's expression of sorrow and regret, and taking the responsibility for expressing sorrow for breaking trust and hoping for forgiveness, I'm not convinced that the -- SSOSA is the right thing, so I'm not going to grant that. I'm not going to grant the SSOSA, I don't think that's the right thing in this instance. I think that there's some deep-seated issues that even with the treatment I'm not sure would -- be healing and curing of the issue.

So, I think the best option at this point is to keep Mr. Pittman away from children and others for a significant period of time.

6/16/16 RP 116-117.

The court imposed the high end of the standard range of 155 months to life on Count I, and 17 months on Count III to run concurrent with a 12- month enhancement based on the sexual motivation¹, for a total of 167 months to life. CP 83.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Pittman's request for a SSOSA on an impermissible basis. *Slip Op.* at 5. Mr. Pittman makes this timely petition.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The decision to impose a special sex offender-sentencing alternative is entirely within the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Onefrey,* 119 Wn.2d 572, 575, 835 P.2d 213 (1992). The sentencing court need not provide a reason for its denial, but a court abuses its discretion if it denies a sentencing request on an impermissible basis. *State v. Sims,* 171 Wn.2d 436, 256 P.ed 285 (2011); *State v. Khanteechit,* 101 Wn.App. 137, 139, 5 P.3d 727 (2000); *State v. Hays,* 55 Wn.App. 13, 15, 776 P.2d 718 (1989). A

¹ The Court of Appeals reversed the 12-month sentence enhancement. *Slip Op.* at 7.

defendant may challenge the procedure involved in denial of a SSOSA. *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 338, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005).

The legislature, pursuant to RCW 9.94A.670 outlines the procedure for a SSOSA. It provides the criteria for determining eligibility, the requirements the defendant must meet to be considered for a SSOSA, and the factors the court must consider when making its determination whether to impose a SSOSA. The legislature created the SSOSA program to give certain first-time sex offenders the opportunity and incentive to receive sex offender treatment. *State v. Wheeler*, 183 Wn.2d 71, 75, 349 P.3d 820 (2015).

Where an individual meets the eligibility criteria does the trial court abuse its discretion when it places undue emphasis on its own opinion of whether sex offender treatment is effective, and denies the requested SSOSA?

Mr. Pittman met the eligibility criteria. He was a first-time offender convicted of sex offenses that were not serious violent offenses. RCW 9.94A.670(2)(a)(b). He had no prior convictions for

any violent offenses, and the current offenses did not result in substantial bodily harm to the victim. RCW 9.94A.670(2)(c)(d).

The offenses involved a victim with whom he had an established relationship, and his standard range for the offenses included the possibility of confinement of ten years, below the threshold of eleven years. RCW 9.94A.670(2)(e)(f). Mr. Pittman was eligible for a SSOSA and the court properly ordered an evaluation report on the relative risk to the larger community and to determine whether he was amenable to treatment. RCW 9.94A.670(3).

A court-ordered evaluation must include the defendant's version of the facts, an official version of the facts, the defendant's offense history, an assessment of problems in addition to alleged deviant behaviors; the defendant's social and employment history; all evaluation measures utilized and a detailed proposed treatment and monitoring plan. RCW 9.94A.670(3)(a)-(c). Mr. Pittman's evaluation by Thomas Carey met these requirements. 6/16/16 RP 106.

The statute directs the sentencing court to consider several factors in exercising its discretion whether to impose a SSOSA

including (1) whether the offender and the community will benefit from use of this alternative; (2) whether a SSOSA is too lenient in light of the extent and circumstances of the crime; (3) whether the offender has other victims in addition to the victim of the offense; (4) whether the offender is amenable to treatment; (5) the risk the offender presents to the community, the victim or other persons of similar ages and circumstances; and, (6) the victim's opinion whether the offender should receive a treatment disposition. RCW 9.94A.670(4).

The statute requires the court to consider *all* the factors in making a balanced sentencing decision. Here, the record shows the court only considered factors (4) and (6).

The court acknowledged that the major barriers to treatment were finances and housing stability, both of which Mr. Pittman's mother was prepared to furnish.

The court gave great weight to the victim's opinion whether the offender should receive a SSOSA. RCW 9.94A.670(4). But, by the court's reasoning here, a SSOSA should not be imposed for a sex offense sentencing which as a result of the offense involved broken family relationships, marked by anger.

The legislature enacted the special sex offender-sentencing alternative on the belief that the behavior of sex offenders is compulsive and likely to continue without treatment. It believed that providing an alternative to confinement would lead to increased reporting of sex crimes, particularly in *intra-family situations*, and requiring participation in rehabilitation programs *is often effective in preventing future criminality. State v. Jackson*, 61 Wn.App. 86, 92-93, 809 P.2d 221(1992).(emphasis added).

However, the court most heavily relied on its own opinion which conflicted with the legislative purpose of the SSOSA and this Court's reasoning that the SSOSA program is to incentivize treatment. The court's decision should have been informed by the tenet that sex offender treatment is effective in offender rehabilitation, and may be in the best interest of the offender, and of benefit to the community.

Instead, the court here acted based on an untenable reason.

State v. Rundquist, 79 Wn.App. 786, 905 P.2d 922 (1995). The court's ruling was strongly based on its belief that sex offenders could not be rehabilitated even with a lifetime of work.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding facts and authorities, Mr. Pittman respectfully asks this Court to accept his petition for review.