FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
12/19/2017 10:45 AM



95324-4

NO. 49232-6-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

**DIVISION II** 

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

### JORDAN PITTMAN,

Appellant.

# RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON LAURINE/WSBA 36871 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

#

### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Jason Laurine, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office.

### II. FACTS

In general, the State agrees with appellant's rendition of the facts. If any relevant disputes exist, they will be addressed in the body of the argument.

### III. ARGUMENT

# I. Appellant has not shown he is entitled to review.

A petition for review will be accepted only:

- 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- 2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- 3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Here, petitioner failed to allege the existence of any of the four considerations for review enumerated in RAP 13.4(b). Consequently, Pittman's petition should be denied.

# II. <u>It was not abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny sentencing under SSOSA.</u>

Even if the Court finds Pittman has met the threshold requirement for review, the facts contradict Pittman's position that the trial court heavily relied upon its own opinion when it refused to award him the extraordinary sentencing alternative. Unlike the trial court in *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wash.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005), where the Court reversed the sentencing court's refusal to impose DOSA because the sentencing court failed to meaningfully consider whether it was appropriate for the defendant and instead based its decision of funding issues, the trial court in the current matter did provide meaningful consideration to all of the issues at stake before denying Pittman's request.

The decision to impose a SSOSA is entirely within the trial court's discretion. *State v. Onefrey*, 119 Wash.2d 572, 575, 835 P.2d 213 (1992). Sentencing is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Hays*, 55 Wash.App. 13, 776 P.2d 718 (1989). A court abuses its discretion only if it categorically refuses to impose a particular sentence or if it denies a sentencing request on an impermissible basis. *State v. Khanteechit*, 101 Wash.App. 137, 139, 5 P.3d 727 (2000). RCW 9.94A.670 lists the process for determining whether SSOSA is appropriate. RCW 9.94A.670(4) guides a sentencing court's decision whether to sentence under SSOSA, or not. It

lists plainly several factors that must be considered, once initial eligibility is met:

the court shall consider whether the offender and the community will benefit from use of this alternative, consider whether the alternative is too lenient in light of the extent and circumstances of the offense, consider whether the offender has victims in addition to the victim of the offense. consider whether the offender is amenable to treatment. consider the risk the offender would present to the community, to the victim, or to persons of similar age and circumstances as the victim, and consider the victim's opinion whether the offender should receive a treatment disposition under this section. The court shall give great weight to the victim's opinion whether the offender should receive a treatment disposition under this section. If the sentence imposed is contrary to the victim's opinion, the court shall enter written findings stating its reasons for imposing the treatment disposition. The fact that the offender admits to his or her offense does not, by itself, constitute amenability to treatment.

When making its decision, a trial court is not limited to these factors.

State v. Hays, 55 Wash.App. 13, 776 P.2d 718 (1989).

The trial court denied Pittman SSOSA because it was not the right thing for either the victim or the community. RP: 115-117. It ruled "there's some deep-seated issues that even with the treatment, I'm not sure would...would be healing and curing of the issue." RP June 16, 2016; 117:1-5. It further reasoned that "the best option, at this point, is to keep

Mr. Pittman away from children and others for a significant period of time." RP June 16, 2016; 117: 6-25.

The trial court made its ruling for several reasons, not least of which was the fact the defendant would not fully account for his actions. As the court in State v. Frazier reasoned, where a defendant who denies committing the offense until after his conviction suggests neither he nor the community will benefit from a SSOSA sentence. 84 Wash.App. 752, 754, 930 P.2d 345 (1997). During trial, Mr. Pittman either diminished his actions or outright lied. As the court found during its March 22, 2016 ruling, "his story of what happened, at least in my estimation, under reports his involvement." RP June 16, 2016; 62:19-20. The court was also unimpressed by Mr. Pittman's recitation of the frequency of the abuse, noting that it likely occurred more than the single instance described by Pittman. RP June 16, 2016; 63:5-9. The court's skepticism was clear when it stated that "notwithstanding Mr. Pittman's expression of sorrow and regret, and taking the responsibility for expressing sorrow for breaking trust and hoping forgiveness, I'm not convinced that the SSOSA is the right thing." RP June 16, 2016; 116:21-25.

In his presentence investigation (PSI) statement, Pittman blamed the victim. He claimed her nascent and precocious sexual curiosity caused him

to molest her; that she found the pocket pussy and the vibrator; and that she was the one who placed it on her own bottom and inserted it into her anus. His recitation of that facts did not change from his statement to Detective Stumph. RP March 2, 2016; 171-175.

Further, the victim's father and stepmother were not in favor of SSOSA, and requested the defendant go to prison. This is a valid consideration. *Frazier*, 84 Wash.App. at 754, 930 P.2d 345 *citing Hays*, 55 Wash.App. at 17-18, 776 P.2d 718 (stating a court's refusal to sentence under SSOSA is appropriate when court considers testimony from the mother of the victim requesting a stiff sentence). Indeed, under RCW 9.94A.670(4), a sentencing court is to give great weight to the victim's opinion whether the defendant should receive a treatment disposition.

At the June 16, 2016, sentencing, the victim's stepmother was adamant Mr. Pittman not receive SSOSA, stating:

I am so far convinced that he has robbed this little girl in more ways than imaginable. I suspect she will grow to become a very challenged individual, and trust issues, I'm sure, will be just one of the many ailments she will suffer from. Jordan's sick, selfish crime, as well as the loss of her immediate family members, will have an immense impact on her life.

I'd ask the court to remember testimony, to take into consideration his denial, which pressed for this trial could go on for so long, it's been over a year, which also resulted in

those two little girls to be forced into such a position as to be testifying, which yet should be another crime. How scary for them. I believe had [the victim] had not told her story, his acts of raping her would still be ongoing.

I believe a lengthy sentence is in order. No SSOSA, no special services. Is that a fair trade for a ruined life of a little girl? Probably not, but definitely a fair trade. RP June 16, 2016; 100:5-24.

In a letter to the court, the victim's father, Pittman's brother, also requested the court not award Pittman the extraordinary alternative to prison. He wrote that Pittman betrayed brotherly trust, a trust held between uncle and nieces, and that "he does not deserve the SSOSA program after what he did." RP June 16, 2016; 101: 15-22.

Even still, the PSI and Dr. Carey, the writer of Pittman's psychosexual evaluation, both indicated that Pittman was a "marginal candidate, at best" for SSOSA. RP 116:4-5. Over any of the arguments made by defense counsel, the sentencing court was persuaded by this point. RP June 16, 2016; 116.

### IV. CONCLUSION

Pittman has not shown either that review is appropriate or that the trial court abused its discretion when declining to sentence him to a SOSSA,

following trial. For these reasons, the State respectfully requests his petition for review be denied.